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DECISION


We deny James A. Gillihan’s application to renew his bail bond agent license (“license”) because Gillihan pled guilty to a felony and used fraud in applying for his license.  
Procedure


Gillihan filed a complaint on December 20, 2004, appealing the denial of his application to renew his license.  We scheduled a hearing for May 17, 2005.  We then granted five motions for continuance filed by Gillihan and one filed by the Director of Insurance (“the Director”).  On 
April 28, 2006, we convened a hearing on the complaint.  Stephen Gleason represented the Director.  John Oldham represented Gillihan.  Gillihan filed the last written argument on August 3, 2006. 
Findings of Fact

1. The Director issued to Gillihan a bail bond agent license that was effective from March 6, 1989, to March 6, 1997.
  On November 15, 1999, the Director reinstated Gillihan’s license.  It again expired on November 16, 2000.    
2. An indictment filed on March 11, 1999, in the United States District Court for the Western District of Missouri, charged Gillihan with financing armed robberies of jewelry stores, including Tivol’s Jewelry Store in Kansas City. 
3. During a guilty plea hearing, Gillihan testified under oath that he bought jewelry (“the jewelry”) from one of the armed robbers, Clarence Burnett.  Burnett was a bail bond client of Gillihan.  Gillihan further stated that he knew that the jewelry was stolen.  
4. At the plea hearing, Gillihan testified under oath under questioning by his lawyer as follows:
Mr. Bunch:  . . . Mr. Burnett, from time to time, would discuss at least to some degree, not in great detail but some degree, matters in which he was involved in, leading you to believe that he was in the drug business as well as perhaps in some way or another, robbing stores or obtaining diamonds illegally, is that true?
Defendant Gillihan:  Yes.  

Mr. Bunch:  And you did take -- and so you had agreed that if he provided you diamonds, that you didn’t have any specific knowledge in advance of the robbery of Tivol but you had reason to believe that he was engaged in such activity?

Defendant Gillihan:  Yes.  

Mr. Bunch:  And you agreed that should he obtain, through this activity, diamonds, that you would help, you would assist him in disposing of them?

Defendant Gillihan:  Yes.  

Mr. Bunch:  In fact, you took some of those diamonds and tried to sell them here and did dispose of some of them here as well as in the state of Texas?  

Defendant Gillihan:  Yes.  

Mr. Bunch:  And you knew at the time the robbery occurred, if and when it was going to occur, that weapons would be used?  

Defendant Gillihan:  Yes.[
]  

Those statements were true.    
5. Gillihan pled guilty to aiding and abetting the use of a firearm during a crime of violence in violation of 18 USC § 924(c)1 and 2.  On October 25, 1999, the court accepted the guilty plea and found Gillihan guilty under 18 USC § 924(c)1 and 2.  On February 11, 2000, the court imposed sentence, including 60 months’ imprisonment and $1,290,529.64 in restitution (“the conviction”).  

6. On May 13, 2004, Gillihan filed the application.  As part of the application process, Gillihan responded to the Director’s inquiries.  During that process, Gillihan stated that he did not know the jewelry was stolen.  By letter received at the Director’s office on June 25, 2004, Gillihan stated:

[Burnett] asked me if I wanted to buy my wife a tennis bracelet.  I did not know at that time they were hot.  I proved it by taking a lie detector test and a voice stress test.  I got caught up in something I had no idea of.[
]    

On October 13, 2004, Gillihan again denied knowing that the jewelry was stolen during a conference with the Director’s investigator in person on October 13, 2004.  Those statements were false.  
7. By letter dated November 19, 2004, the Director denied the application.  
Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear Gillihan’s complaint.
 
I.  Gillihan’s Arguments

Gillihan argues that we should grant the application because the Director’s denial, based on his felony conviction, constitutes an abuse of discretion.  Gillihan argues that the Director has issued licenses to other convicted felons and that he committed no crime of violence.  Gillihan argues that he was guilty of aiding and abetting the use of a firearm in a crime of violence only under the Pinkerton doctrine.  
The Pinkerton doctrine is a theory of vicarious liability.  It provides that a defendant who conspired to commit a crime is liable for any other crime, committed by any other conspirator in furtherance of the conspiracy, even if the defendant did not know of such other crime.
  Gillihan’s premise is that Pinkerton liability does not establish his actual participation in the crimes of violence.  We disagree with those arguments because they mischaracterize the issues before us.  
Whether the Director had a sound basis for his decision is not before us, and Gillihan cites no authority to the contrary.  We hear the issues de novo,
 which means that we simply decide whether to grant or deny the application.
  Gillihan has the burden of proving that we should grant his application,
 and the Director’s amended answer gave him express notice of the issues that he must address.
   
II.  Grounds for Denial

The Director’s amended answer cites two grounds for denial under § 374.755.  Gillihan argues that § 374.755 provides only for the filing of a complaint before this Commission.  But the Director also cites § 374.750, RSMo 2000:    

The department may refuse to issue or renew any license required pursuant to sections 374.700 to 374.775 for any one or any combination of causes stated in section 374.755. 

Section 374.755 supplies two grounds for denial as set forth in the Director’s amended answer.  
a.  Criminal Proceedings

The Director cites § 374.755.1(2):

Final adjudication or a plea of guilty or nolo contendere within the past fifteen years in a criminal prosecution under . . . federal law for a felony [.] 

Gillihan pleaded and was finally adjudicated guilty under 18 USC § 924(c)1 and 2.  That offense is a felony.
  Gillihan alleges that he did not commit the armed robberies himself and pled guilty only under the Pinkerton theory of conspirator guilt.  We agree.  But that is irrelevant under 
§ 374.755.1(2).  Under that statute, all the Director has to show is a guilty plea or conviction on a felony charge,
 and the Director has shown both.  We conclude that we may deny the application because Gillihan pled guilty to, and was finally adjudicated on, a felony charge.  
b.  Fraud on the Application
The Director also cites § 375.755.1(3):

Use of fraud, deception, misrepresentation . . . in securing any license [.]
Those terms have meanings at law as follows.  

Fraud is an intentional perversion of truth to induce another to act in reliance upon it.
  The intentional perversion may take the form of misrepresentation, which is a falsehood or untruth made with the intent of deceit rather than inadvertent mistake.
  Similarly, deception is the act of causing someone to accept as true what is not true.
  
The Director cites Gillihan’s contradictory statements as to knowledge that the jewelry was stolen.  At the guilty plea hearing, Gillihan stated that he had such knowledge.  He denied such knowledge during the application process.  One of his statements must be untrue.  We conclude that he knew that the jewelry was stolen, and that his later denial was the false statement, for the following reasons.  
The record on Gillihan’s conviction shows that his knowledge that the jewelry was stolen was the basis for his conviction.  The final judgment resulting from that guilty plea provides grounds for collateral estoppel, or “issue preclusion.”
  That doctrine precludes a party to a previous judgment "from relitigating issues that were necessarily and unambiguously decided in a previous judgment."
  

We may apply collateral estoppel sua sponte for the sake of comity, continuity, and essential justice, when all elements appear in the record.
  Those elements are:
· the issue decided in the earlier action is identical to the issue presented in the present action;

· the earlier action was decided on the merits;
· the party to be precluded was a party, or is in privity with a party, to the earlier action; and

· the party to be precluded had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue.
  
Each of those elements is present because the court decided that Gillihan knew that the jewelry was stolen on his testimony at a plea hearing, where he expressly waived the protections of the criminal system.  Therefore, we conclude that Gillihan is estopped to deny his knowledge that the jewelry was stolen.  


Even if we did not apply collateral estoppel, Gillihan’s guilty plea would constitute grounds to conclude that he knew that the jewelry was stolen.  A guilty plea is evidence of the facts charged,
 though not conclusive evidence.  It is an admission against interest, which the defendant may explain away.
  
Gillihan explains that he admitted knowledge that the jewelry was stolen because he feared a longer sentence after trial.  But Gillihan’s testimony at our hearing cuts against his credibility.  He stated:  “I was nowhere near the place and had no prior knowledge to any of this”
 and “I had no idea that the jewelry was stolen prior to the time I received it.”
  Those statements are literally true, yet entirely inconsistent with his plea hearing testimony.  His plea hearing testimony was that he intended to buy stolen jewelry so he did not care, and therefore did not care to know, when the robberies occurred.  
We may infer fraudulent intent from the circumstances.
  These circumstances lead us to infer that Gillihan lied about the matter during the application process so that he could have a license.  Such conduct constitutes fraud, deception, and misrepresentation.  
We conclude that we may deny the application for fraud, deception, and misrepresentation in securing renewal.  
III.  Discretion

Section 374.750, RSMo 2000, provides that we may deny the application.  “May” means an option, not a mandate.
  In making the decision on the application, we have the same degree of discretion as the Director, and we need not exercise it in the same way.
  

Gillihan argues that the Director has licensed other felons, citing testimony of the Director’s employee.  But Gillihan cites no authority requiring that we grant the application on that basis.  On the contrary, disparate treatment does not necessarily entitle the more harshly treated applicant to relief.
 

In exercising our discretion as to whether to grant or deny the application, we look to statutes on similar subject matter for guidance.  We consider the nature of the crime, its relation to the license, how long ago Gillihan committed it, his conduct since that date, and other evidence.
  We also bear in mind that a license represents the State's seal of approval that an applicant is fit to practice a licensed profession
 and that applicants who have erred in the past should acknowledge guilt and embrace a new moral code.
  
The conviction is nine years in the past, and Gillihan argues that his absence from the armed robbery of Tivol’s entitles him to a license.  But he offers us no evidence of fitness to do bail bond business.  On the contrary, supporting his clients’ criminal enterprises by purchasing their spoils weighs heavily against fitness for a bail bond license.  Gillihan has not acknowledged 
guilt or embraced a new moral code.  Instead, as to the scheme that he described at the plea hearing, his conduct ranges from evasion to fraud.  Gillihan has not carried his burden of proving fitness to do bail bond business.  
Therefore, we exercise our discretion in the Director’s favor.  
Summary


We deny the application under § 374.755.1(2) and (3).

SO ORDERED on December 21, 2006.



________________________________



JUNE STRIEGEL DOUGHTY



Commissioner

	�Gillihan also held a general bail bond agent license from April 10, 1996, to April 11, 2000.  The general bail bond license is not at issue here.  


	�Ex. E, at 18-19.  


	�Ex. D.


	�Section 621.120, RSMo 2000.  Statutory references are to the 2005 Supplement to the Revised Statutes of Missouri unless otherwise noted.


	�United States v. Golter, 880 F.2d 91, 93 (8th Cir., 1989) citing Pinkerton v. United States, 328 U.S. 640, 646-47 (1946).  


	�Lederer v. Department of Social Servs., 825 S.W.2d 858, 864 (Mo. App., W.D. 1992).  


	�Geriatric Nursing Facility v. Department of Soc. Servs., 693 S.W.2d 206, 209 (Mo. App., W.D. 1985).  


	�Section 621.120, RSMo 2000. 


	�See Ballew v. Ainsworth, 670 S.W.2d 94, 103 (Mo. App., E.D. 1984).  


	�18 USC § 3559(a)(2).  


	�Watkins v. State Bd. of Registration for Healing Arts, 651 S.W.2d 582, 584 (Mo. App., W.D. 1983).


	�Hernandez v. State Bd. of Regis’n for Healing Arts, 936 S.W.2d 894, 899 n.2 (Mo. App., W.D. 1997).


	�Id. at 899 n.3.  


	�MERRIAM-WEBSTER'S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 322 (11th ed. 2004).  


	�Carr v. Holt, 134 S.W.3d 647, 649  (Mo. App. E.D., 2004) (citing � HYPERLINK "https://www.lexis.com/research/buttonTFLink?_m=8b1efffd756321a6905e4e21e61128b0&_xfercite=%3ccite%20cc%3d%22USA%22%3e%3c%21%5bCDATA%5b134%20S.W.3d%20647%5d%5d%3e%3c%2fcite%3e&_butType=3&_butStat=2&_butNum=7&_butInline=1&_butinfo=%3ccite%20cc%3d%22USA%22%3e%3c%21%5bCDATA%5b49%20S.W.3d%20678%2cat%20682%5d%5d%3e%3c%2fcite%3e&_fmtstr=FULL&docnum=1&_startdoc=1&wchp=dGLbVtz-zSkAk&_md5=63734d323f6ac952c6e142bbca9abd86" \t "_parent" �James v. Paul, 49 S.W.3d 678, 682-83� (Mo. banc 2001)).  James v. Paul involved the suspended execution of an imposed sentence.  49 S.W.3d at 680.    The imposition of sentence defines the outcome as the final judgment in a criminal case.  Yale v. City of Independence, 846 S.W.2d 193, 194 (Mo. banc 1993).  “By his plea of guilty and conviction, Paul admitted his culpability for his role in the criminal violation.”  49 S.W.3d at 688 (emphasis added).


	�In re Marriage of Evans, 155 S.W.3d 90, 96 (Mo. App., S.D. 2004).  


	�Patrick V. Koepke Constr. v. Woodsage Constr., 119 S.W.3d 551, 555 (Mo. App., E. D. 2003).


	�Missouri Bd. of Pharmacy v. Tadrus, 926 S.W.2d 132, 136 (Mo. App., W.D. 1996).


	�Mandacina v. Liquor Control Bd. of Review, 599 S.W.2d 240, 243 (Mo. App., W.D. 1980).


	�Nichols v. Blake, 418 S.W.2d 188, 190 (Mo. 1967).  


	�Tr. at 22.


	�Id. at 21.  


	�Essex v. Getty Oil Co., 661 S.W.2d 544, 551 (Mo. App., W.D. 1983).


	�S.J.V. ex rel. Blank v. Voshage, 860 S.W.2d 802, 804 (Mo. App., E.D. 1993).


	�State Bd. of Regis'n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 614 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).  


	�Missouri Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Brown, 121 S.W.3d 234, 236 (Mo. banc 2003).


	�As set forth in § 314.200, RSMo 2000.  


	�� HYPERLINK "https://www.lexis.com/research/buttonTFLink?_m=7aa2fdde12e7528d5ff496b2a6426d49&_xfercite=%3ccite%20cc%3d%22USA%22%3e%3c%21%5bCDATA%5b2006%20Mo.%20Admin.%20Hearings%20LEXIS%209%5d%5d%3e%3c%2fcite%3e&_butType=3&_butStat=2&_butNum=16&_butInline=1&_butinfo=%3ccite%20cc%3d%22USA%22%3e%3c%21%5bCDATA%5b65%20S.W.2d%20943%2cat%20950%5d%5d%3e%3c%2fcite%3e&_fmtstr=FULL&docnum=1&_startdoc=1&wchp=dGLbVzb-zSkAW&_md5=56bfe448519a0188a4c280b79899a262" \t "_parent" �State ex rel. Lentine v. State Bd. of Health, 65 S.W.2d 943, 950 (Mo. 1933).�


	�Francois v. State Bd. of Regis'n for the Healing Arts, 880 S.W.2d 601, 603 (Mo. App., E.D. 1994).
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